FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 6/20/2025 9:02 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/20/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

SUPREME COURTNO. _____ Case #: 1043040 NO. 37894-2-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JASON WAITS,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR ASOTIN COUNTY

The Honorable David Frazier, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petiti oner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Ave., Ste. 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

TABLE OF CONTENTS

А.	<u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS</u> <u>DECISION</u>
B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
	1. Pretrial Proceedings2
	2. Trial Proceedings
D.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
	 Review is warranted on the novel question of whether dismissal is necessary when a trial court enters a continuance but fails to set a specified date for trial, as required by CrR 3.3(d)(2) and (f)(2)
	2. Review is warranted because pervasive prosecutorial misconduct deprived Waits of his due process right to a fair trial
	3. Review is warranted because the court of appeals affirmed the trial court's total bar on Waits's contact with his children for his entire indeterminate prison term without addressing the "reasonably necessary" standard from <u>Rainey</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

Page

4.]	This Court should also accept review of a
(constitutional issue Waits raised in his
S	Statement of Additional Grounds for Review27

E.	CONCLUSION	. 28
----	------------	------

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

Dalton M, LLC v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc.
2 Wn.3d 36, 534 P.3d 339 (2023)
In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann
175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) 20
In re Pers. Restraint of Rainey
168 Wn.2d 367, 229 P.3d 686 (2010) 25, 26
State v. Coleman
155 Wn. App. 951, 231 P.3d 212 (2010) 19
State v. Craven
15 Wn. App. 2d 380, 475 P.3d 1038 (2020)
State v. Denton
23 Wn. App. 2d 437, 516 P.3d 422 (2022) 13, 14
State v. Downing
151 Wn.2d 265, 87 P.3d 1169 (2004) 17
State v. Helms
72 Wn. App. 273, 864 P.2d 23 (1993) 14
State v. Kenyon 1(7 Wr 2d 120, 21(D 2d 1024 (2000)) 12, 15
167 Wn.2d 130, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009) 13, 15
<u>State v. Kokot</u> 42 Wn. App. 733, 713 P.2d 1121 (1986)13
42 WII. App. 735, 715 F.20 1121 (1960)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>State v. Mack</u> 89 Wn.2d 788, 576 P.2d 44 (1978) 15
<u>State v. Pierce</u> 169 Wn. App. 533, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012)23
<u>State v. Raschka</u> 124 Wn. App. 103, 100 P.3d 339 (2004)17
<u>State v. Rivers</u> 96 Wn. App. 672, 981 P.2d 16 (1999)
<u>State v. Torres</u> 198 Wn. App. 685, 393 P.3d 894 (2017) 25, 26
<u>State v. Walker</u> 199 Wn.2d 796, 513 P.3d 111 (2022) 13, 17, 18
<u>State v. White</u> 94 Wn.2d 498, 617 P.2d 998 (1980)13
FEDERAL CASES
<u>Florida v. Jardines</u> 569 U.S. 1 (2013)
<u>United States v. Lundin</u> 817 F.3d 1151 (9th Cir. 2016)27
RULES, STATUTES, AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
CrR 3.31, 3, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page

CrR 3.5	
RAP 13.4	
RCW 10.46.085	

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS</u> <u>DECISION</u>

Petitioner Jason Waits asks this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' unpublished opinion in <u>State v. Waits</u>, No. 37894-2-III, filed April 15, 2025 (Appendix A). The court of appeals denied Waits's motion for reconsideration and alternative motion to publish on May 21, 2025 without calling for an answer from the State (Appendix B).

B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Is review warranted to determine whether dismissal is necessary where the trial court violates the plain language of CrR 3.3(d)(2) and (f)(2) by entering continuances without setting a specified date for trial, an issue of first impression?

2. Is review warranted, where pervasive prosecutorial misconduct during Waits's trial, particularly in closing and rebuttal arguments, violated his due process right to a fair trial?

3. Is review warranted, where the trial court prohibited Waits's contact with his children for his entire indeterminate

-1-

prison term without considering whether such restriction was narrowly tailored in both scope and duration?

4. This Court should also accept review of an issue Waits raised in his Statement of Additional Grounds for Review.

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. **Pretrial Proceedings**

Waits was charged on May 28, 2019 in Asotin County with one count of attempted first degree child rape (Count 1), one count of first degree child molestation (Count 2), and one count of attempted first degree child molestation (Count 3). CP 10-12. Waits pleaded not guilty at his June 3 arraignment. VRP 12-14.¹ Waits was unable to post bond and so remained in jail pending trial. VRP 125. Waits's trial was initially set for July 25-26, with speedy trial expiring on August 2. CP 182-84.

¹ This petition refers to the pretrial verbatim report of proceedings as "VRP" and the reconstructed narrative report of proceedings from trial and sentencing as "NRP."

At a pretrial hearing on July 15, 2019, defense counsel moved to "strike the July 25th [trial date] and reset." VRP 27. The trial court found good cause to continue, because defense counsel apparently had another case already set for trial on July 25. VRP 27-28. Waits objected, "I have not waived my speedy, your Honor." VRP 28. The trial court did not set a new date for trial. VRP 28-29. Instead, the court set August 5 for a "re-setting" hearing, encouraging the parties to resolve any plea negotiations by then. VRP 28-29; CP 185.

The parties reconvened on August 5, 2019. VRP 35. The prosecutor explained "on July 15th counsel moved to strike and reset," and so, "I think we are in a[n] excluded period." VRP 36. Waits piped up, "So, I'm just trying to understand (inaudible) the -- trial -- the time for trial -- 60 days (inaudible) August 2nd, and the exclusionary period that we're in would be the 3.3 -- what is

it -- (e)--.² VRP 37. The court told Waits to talk to his attorney "separately about this," explaining, "Right now we're just setting some hearing dates for you." VRP 37. Waits reiterated, "But . . . It's past my date, -- what I'm saying." VRP 38. Everyone ignored Waits. VRP 38. The court set a CrR 3.5 hearing for September 5, but still did not reset the trial date. VRP 39; CP 186.

The CrR 3.5 hearing was held on September 5, 2019. VRP 40. Still no trial date was set. CP 187-89.

At a September 9, 2019 hearing, the prosecutor explained to the court, "We don't have a trial date set in this case." VRP 93. The court inquired if anyone had calculated the speedy trial deadline. VRP 94. The prosecutor responded, "Speedy trial deadline will be 60 days after whatever date the court picks today, because we're in a continuance of a trial date that started

² Waits appeared for this hearing, as with many other pretrial hearings, by video from jail, separated from his attorney who was present in the courtroom. CP 185; VRP 35.

back on July 15th. So this is an excluded period." VRP 94. The prosecutor later corrected himself, "It's an excluded period followed by a 30-day buffer." VRP 97. The court suggested December 12-13, to which defense counsel responded, "That's way outside speedy trial," but wanted to discuss the matter with Waits. VRP 94-95. The court continued "trial setting" until September 23, announcing, "I'm not picking any date today," and so still no trial date was set. VRP 95, 98; CP 190.

At the September 23, 2019 hearing, the prosecutor noted, "we are sort of in limbo," explaining to the court that the initial trial date was stricken and never reset. VRP 99. Before the parties could continue, Waits asked for new counsel, indicating a breakdown in communication. VRP 100-01. Waits informed the court that he was unaware his attorney would be requesting a trial continuance at the July 15 hearing. VRP 100-01. The court appointed new counsel for Waits and scheduled another resetting hearing for October 7. VRP 102-04; CP 191-92. Ultimately, a trial date was not set until a hearing on November 4, 2019. VRP 118; CP 196. The prosecutor indicated at that time, "the clock has not yet started to run because we are still in an excluded period," due to defense counsel's continuance request back on July 15. VRP 114-15. The trial court set November 25 for trial. VRP 118; CP 196. Because of several more continuances not at issue here, Waits's jury trial finally took place on August 13-14, 2020. CP 211, 227.

2. Trial Proceedings

All three charges arose from a single night—the evening of May 26 into the morning of May 27, 2019. At the time, Waits lived with his girlfriend Audrie Eckerle and her young daughter, S., who was almost three years old when she met Waits but was not yet potty trained. NRP 266. Waits helped Eckerle with childcare, frequently babysitting S., potty training her, and taking her to the beach to play with kids her age. NRP 263-67.

Waits came home on the afternoon of May 26, 2019, after drinking with friends and took a nap on a couch they had on the

-6-

front porch. NRP 273. When Waits woke up, he went to use the bathroom. NRP 274. He found S. playing with her dolls in the bath. NRP 274. Waits used the toilet, which is partitioned from the bathtub, and then stood by the bathtub to chat with S. NRP 274-76. Waits's back was to the door, which was open a crack. NRP 197-98.

Eckerle testified she could see Waits on his knees with his shorts down, trying to put his penis into S.'s mouth. NRP 172. S. also testified Waits tried to put his "peepee" into her mouth in the bathtub. NRP 220. The alleged bathtub incident formed the basis for Count 1, attempted child rape in the first degree. NRP 389-91; CP 17. The jury acquitted Waits on this count. CP 68.

Waits went to bed and fell asleep. NRP 278. Eckerle eventually joined him in bed. NRP 175. S. also wanted to join them, so Eckerle had "no problem" letting S. sleep in between her and Waits, even though Waits had supposedly just tried to rape S. NRP 175, 200. Waits awoke to Eckerle yelling at him. NRP 279. Waits discovered, in his sleep, he had put his hand on S.'s hip, with his thumb close to her vagina. NRP 310.

Eckerle testified she pulled the covers off when S. started squirming and giggling. NRP 175. Eckerle claimed she saw Waits was touching his penis and appeared to be trying to put his fingers in S.'s vagina. NRP 175-76. S. testified, "So he would put his finger up to my peepee and he would like rub his finger - in my peepee." NRP 220. But S. told defense counsel 10 days before trial that she could not remember anything about what happened. NRP 221-24. S. admitted at trial, "but I heard my mom talking about it. That reminded me." NRP 224. This alleged incident formed the basis for Count 2, child molestation in the first degree. NRP 392; CP 18. The jury convicted on this count. CP 68.

Waits went back to sleep again after the bed incident. NRP 279. Eckerle said she took S. to her own bedroom and put her to sleep there. NRP 176. Eckerle did not call the police, instead returning to bed with Waits. NRP 177. That morning, after

Eckerle's alarm went off, she and Waits attempted to have intercourse—again, even though Waits apparently tried to rape and molest S. hours before. NRP 205, 340-41. Waits, however, could not obtain an erection. NRP 280.

Waits got up to urinate. NRP 280. He was in the nude because they had just attempted to have sex. NRP 281. After he finished, Waits explained, he briefly went into S.'s room to check on her because it was morning. NRP 281. S. was asleep. NRP 281. Eckerle claimed she saw Waits masturbating "over top" of S. "and then tried getting in the bed with her." NRP 179. Waits denied doing any such thing, though acknowledged he may have briefly scratched his genital area. NRP 281. This formed the basis for Count 3, attempted child molestation in the first degree. NRP 383-94; CP 19. The jury convicted on this count. CP 68.

Eckerle eventually called 911 later that evening. NRP 241-42. After taking a statement from Eckerle at a neighbor's house, four police officers went over to contact Waits. NRP 125, 159-60. Waits came outside, having just woken up and still

-9-

intoxicated from heavy drinking that day. NRP 127-28, 287-89. He told the officers he did not wish to waive his rights but would answer any questions they had. VRP 65. The audio of Waits's interrogation was captured on an officer's body worn camera and portions were played for the jury. NRP 131; Ex. 1.

The trial court imposed a minimum prison term of 89 months, a maximum term of life imprisonment, and lifetime community custody. CP 137.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Review is warranted on the novel question of whether dismissal is necessary when a trial court enters a continuance but fails to set a specified date for trial, as required by CrR 3.3(d)(2) and (f)(2).

Waits argued on appeal that the trial court violated his rulebased speedy trial rights. Br. of Appellant, 26-41. Specifically, CrR 3.3(f)(2) requires that the trial court set a "specified date" for trial when granting a continuance. CrR 3.3(d)(2) likewise mandates that the court "shall set a new date for trial" when trial must be reset for any reason. The trial court failed in Waits's case to comply with the plain language of these provisions when it entered several continuances without resetting a specified date for trial. As a result, no valid excluded period resulted and the time for trial expired on August 2, 2019. Waits objected on August 5, 2019, in time for the trial court to cure the speedy trial expiration, but he was ignored. VRP 37-38; CrR 3.3(g) (providing for a onetime, five-day cure period). Any subsequent trial date was beyond the time limits set forth in CrR 3.3. Waits therefore argued the speedy trial violation necessitated dismissal.

The court of appeals agreed with Waits that "the trial court deviated from the provisions of CrR 3.3(d)(2) and (f)(2)." Slip op., 9. The court nevertheless concluded "lack of strict compliance with the provisions of CrR 3.3(d)(2) and CrR 3.3(f)(2)" did not warrant dismissal under the rule. Slip op., 7. The court reasoned, because the prosecutor reported he was unavailable until September 2, "the time between July 25 and September 3 is an excluded period," even though no trial date was set. Opinion, 8. Under CrR 3.3(b)(5) then, the court of appeals posited, "Mr. Waits' time for trial would have expired 30 days from September 3." Slip op., 8. A resetting event occurred on September 23 with the disqualification of Waits's attorney and, so, the court concluded, "the expiration for Mr. Waits' time for trial extended to November 22." Slip op., 9. The court of appeals therefore held dismissal was not required under CrR 3.3(h). Slip op., 9.

Waits's case appears to be the first occasion for an appellate court in Washington to consider whether violation of the "specified date" language in CrR 3.3(f)(2) and "shall set a new date for trial" in CrR 3.3(d)(2) necessitates dismissal under the rule. This significant question of first impression warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

In finding CrR 3.3(d)(2) and (f)(2) violated but refusing to dismiss, the court of appeals did not discuss any case law analyzing CrR 3.3, except for very general principles of interpretation. Most fundamentally, the court of appeals did not apply controlling decisions from this Court or its own division holding that there must be strict compliance with CrR 3.3. This Court has emphasized, "Since 1973, throughout the various changes and revisions, we have consistently insisted upon strict compliance with the rule and a sanction of dismissal with prejudice in those instances where the rule was not followed." <u>State v. White</u>, 94 Wn.2d 498, 501, 617 P.2d 998 (1980), <u>abrogated on other grounds</u> by <u>State v. Walker</u>, 199 Wn.2d 796, 513 P.3d 111 (2022).³

Division Three likewise recognized recently, "'[P]ast experience has shown that unless a strict rule is applied, the right to a speedy trial as well as the integrity of the judicial process, cannot be effectively preserved."" <u>State v. Denton</u>, 23 Wn. App. 2d 437, 448, 516 P.3d 422 (2022) (quoting <u>State v. Kenyon</u>, 167 Wn.2d 130, 136, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009)); <u>see also id.</u> at 451 (recognizing "'[t]his state has always been strict in its application of the speedy trial provisions of CrR 3.3" (quoting <u>State v. Kokot</u>, 42 Wn. App. 733, 737, 713 P.2d 1121 (1986)); <u>State v. Helms</u>, 72

³ The <u>Walker</u> court overruled <u>White</u> only to the extent the <u>White</u> court suggested "an attorney's knowledge of an untimely trial date bears on the defendant's right to object under CrR 3.3(d)(3)," not at issue here. <u>Walker</u>, 199 Wn.2d at 806.

Wn. App. 273, 277, 864 P.2d 23 (1993) ("Strict compliance with the rule is required, not substantial compliance, and when the rule is not followed, the case must be dismissed with prejudice."). The court of appeals conceded lack of strict compliance with CrR 3.3 in Waits's case, but nevertheless found no grounds for dismissal, conflicting with well-established case law. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Division Three's decision in <u>Denton</u> demonstrates noncompliance with CrR 3.3(f)(2) requires dismissal. That provision allows the trial court to "continue the trial date to a specified date" for good cause, i.e., when "such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." CrR 3.3(f)(2).

<u>Denton</u> and numerous cases before it hold, where a trial court abuses its discretion in finding good cause for a continuance, dismissal is required under CrR 3.3(h), even where the reset trial date is otherwise timely. <u>Denton</u>, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 458-60 (substantial crime lab delays not good cause; dismissal

-14-

required); <u>see also, e.g., Kenyon</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 134-35, 139 (judge unavailability, without more, not good cause; dismissal required); <u>State v. Mack</u>, 89 Wn.2d 788, 794, 576 P.2d 44 (1978) (court congestion not good cause; dismissal required).

What these cases demonstrate is that noncompliance with CrR 3.3(f)(2) results in an invalid excluded period. They apply by analogy to Waits's case, where the court of appeals recognized the trial court failed to comply with the requirement in CrR 3.3(f)(2) to set a "specified date" for trial. It makes no sense to enforce some language in CrR 3.3(f)(2) (allowing a continuance only when "required in the administration of justice"), but not other language in CrR 3.3(f)(2) (requiring a "specified date" for trial). The court of appeals' decision renders the latter language a nullity.

Such a result also undermines the purpose of CrR 3.3, which is to safeguard defendants' constitutional speedy trial rights. <u>Mack</u>, 89 Wn.2d at 791-92. Without a specific trial date, a case becomes untethered from the speedy trial rule and there is

no way for the defendant to assert his speedy trial rights. As the prosecutor recognized at the September 23 hearing, the case was in "limbo" because no trial date had been set. VRP 99. Speedy apparently did not even begin to run until the trial court decided it was ready to set a trial date. VRP 94-95. Continuances could be granted without any determination that they were required for the administration of justice, because the "excluded period" continued indefinitely until the court set a trial date. It is conceivable that such a case could drag on for years in limbo, unbound from CrR 3.3—subject only to constitutional speedy trial guarantees, a notoriously difficult standard to meet—so long as the trial court does not reset the trial date.

This also vitiates RCW 10.46.085, which prohibits continuances in cases where the alleged victim is a child, "unless the court within its discretion finds that there are substantial and compelling reasons for a continuance of the trial date and that the benefit of the postponement outweighs the detriment to the victim." The lack of a trial date in Waits's case allowed the trial court to grant continuances with no such consideration. <u>See State</u> <u>v. Downing</u>, 151 Wn.2d 265, 273, 87 P.3d 1169 (2004) ("[T]rial courts must also compare any detriment to a child victim that might be caused by a continuance with the compelling reasons for continuing the trial.").

In addition to undermining both the letter and the purpose of CrR 3.3, the court of appeals ignored language in this Court's recent decision in <u>Walker</u>. There, the <u>Walker</u> court recognized, "if the court fails to set a trial date at all, and the time-for-trial period expires, a defendant may still obtain dismissal under the rules." 199 Wn.2d at 804 (citing <u>State v. Raschka</u>, 124 Wn. App. 103, 106, 100 P.3d 339 (2004)). This is precisely the situation in Waits's case, yet the court of appeals did not address <u>Walker</u>.

In sum, CrR 3.3(f)(2) requires, when the trial court enters a good cause continuance, it must continue trial "*to a specified date*." (Emphasis added.) The trial court in Waits's case did not do that when it entered a continuance on July 15, 2019. CrR 3.3(d)(2) further requires, when the court determines the

-17-

trial date needs to be reset for any reason, including good cause, "the court *shall set a new date for trial* which is within the time limits prescribed[.]" (Emphasis added.) Again, the trial court did not set a new date for trial within the time limits prescribed by the rule, because it did not set any trial date at all. This triggers the circumstances contemplated in <u>Walker</u>, as well as the plain language of CrR 3.3(h) requiring dismissal if a charge is not brought to trial "within the time limit determined under this rule." This Court's review is critical to determine whether noncompliance with CrR 3.3(d)(2) and (f)(2) requires dismissal.

2. Review is warranted because pervasive prosecutorial misconduct deprived Waits of his due process right to a fair trial.

On appeal, Waits challenged multiple instances of prosecutorial misconduct at trial, particularly in closing and rebuttal arguments. Br. of Appellant, 67-81. Waits argued the cumulative effect of the repeated misconduct at his day-and-a-half long trial where the jury clearly had doubts about the allegations acquitting on Count 1—violated his due process right to a fair trial. Br. of Appellant, 81-84. The court of appeals agreed there was some prosecutorial misconduct, but ultimately concluded it was not pervasive or prejudicial enough to warrant reversal. Slip op., 20-26. The challenged misconduct is addressed in turn.⁴

First, Waits argued the prosecutor impermissibly vouched for S.'s credibility. Br. of Appellant, 68-69; <u>State v. Coleman</u>, 155 Wn. App. 951, 957, 231 P.3d 212 (2010) (prohibiting prosecutor from vouching for a witness's credibility). On redirect of S., the prosecutor concluded by telling her, in front of the jury, "I don't have any more questions for you. *You did great*." NRP 225 (emphasis added). S. was excused and court adjourned for the evening. NRP 225-26. Waits argued, by telling S. she "did great," the prosecutor telegraphed to the jury his personal view of S.'s credibility. But the court of appeals did not find the prosecutor's comment to be improper or prejudicial, reasoning it "was not

⁴ None of the challenged misconduct was objected to—indeed, defense counsel did not object once during the prosecutor's closing and rebuttal arguments—so the flagrant and ill-intentioned standard applies.

intended as an endorsement of her testimony, but rather to encourage a child at the conclusion of a stressful situation." Slip op., 21.

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