# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/21/2025 3:22 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 104,304-0

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JASON D. WAITS,

Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

MARKO HANANEL Assistant Attorney General WSBA #56592 / OID #91093 Office of the Attorney General Criminal Justice Division 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Ph.: 206-867-0269

#### **

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

Waits has not met his burden to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b). He argues that four issues implicate constitutional concerns, contradict caselaw of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and are substantial issues of public interest. Petition at 12, 24, 26, 28. But the Court of Appeals addressed each of his claims, discounted his constitutional arguments, and distinguished his cited authorities. Therefore, this Court's review is unwarranted.

# A. CrR 3.3's Time for Trial Rule Did Not Require Dismissal with Prejudice

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the "Time for Trial" rule under CrR 3.3 did not warrant dismissal

because the time for trial never elapsed, and "dismissal is allowed *only* when a charge is not brought to trial within the time limitations of the rule." Opinion at 7. In fact, the plain language of the rule forbids Waits's requested remedy of dismissal, and this result does not conflict with any opinion of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Moreover, there was no risk that Waits's trial would exceed CrR 3.3's guardrails; despite the lack of a trial date, there was always an *expiration* date at the end of the allowable period for trial. Because that date never passed without a trial, CrR3.3(h) precludes dismissal. This Court should deny review.

When a defendant is held in custody, CrR 3.3 requires that they be brought to trial within either (1) 60 days of their "commencement date" or (2) within a 30-day grace period that follows any period of "excluded" time. CrR 3.3(b)(1). Initially, the commencement date is the date of arraignment, but it can be reset under a few conditions, including the disqualification of counsel. CrR 3.3(c)(1)-(2). The rule also provides that certain

periods of time are "excluded," such as when the trial court finds that a continuance "is required in the administration of justice." CrR 3.3(e), (f)(2). If a charge is not brought to trial within the allowable period, it "shall be dismissed with prejudice." CrR 3.3(h). No case, however, "shall be dismissed for time-to-trial reasons except as *expressly required* by this rule[.]" *Id*. (emphasis added).

Waits alleges a violation of CrR 3.3 within the first 60 days of his commencement date. He was arraigned on June 3, 2019. SRP 12-15; CP 177. Under CrR 3.3, the allowable time for trial would have originally expired on August 2. CrR 3.3(b)(1)(i). Trial was set for July 25. SRP 19-20, 25. On July 15, however, Waits's first attorney asked that the trial be struck and reset because she was unavailable due to another criminal trial. SRP 27; CrR 3.3(f)(2). The trial court found "good cause" for a continuance, SRP 28, and Waits does not dispute that unavailability of defense counsel is a valid basis for a continuance. See, e.g., State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 14-15,

691 P.2d 929 (1984) (defense counsel's request for continuance properly granted, over defendant's objection, to safeguard right to effective assistance of counsel).

The duration of a valid continuance is an "excluded period" under CrR 3.3(e). Although Waits's attorney equivocated about setting a new trial date due to her busy schedule, the record is clear that the attorneys were unavailable through September 2. SRP 29. Thus, the period from July 15 to September 3 was an excluded period under CrR 3.3(e) and the allowable time for trial expired after the 30-day grace period following that date. CrR 3.3(b)(1)(ii), (b)(5). The expiration date therefore moved from August 2 to October 3. *Id*.

Prior to the expiration date, on September 23, Waits disqualified his first attorney. SRP 100-02. This triggered a new commencement date and 60-day time for trial period, CrR 3.3(b)(1)(i), (c)(2)(vii). The expiration date became November 22, *id.*, and Waits's new counsel received another continuance on November 18 due to his own health issues.

SRP 121-22. Waits does not allege a CrR 3.3 violation beyond this date. Petition at 6.

Because the allowable time for trial never expired, dismissal was not required under CrR 3.3(h). See Opinion at 9. Waits nonetheless contends that the lack of a trial date for this time period, contrary to CrR 3.3(d)(2) and (f)(2), requires dismissal. Petition at 12. His argument is contrary to the plain language of CrR 3.3(h): "No case shall be dismissed for time-totrial reasons except as expressly required by this rule." This language was added to CrR 3.3 because "a dismissal with prejudice is a harsh result that allows for crimes to go unpunished." State v. Walker, 199 Wn.2d 796, 805 n.8, 513 P.3d 111. The only violation of CrR 3.3 that "expressly require[s]" dismissal is when trial is not set within the allowable period. CrR 3.3(h). Opinion at 6.

Waits faults the Court of Appeals for failing to follow a series of cases that require "strict compliance" with CrR 3.3.

Petition at 13-15. In context, however, these cases do not require dismissal for failure to follow every term of the rule.

Instead, in each cited case, dismissal was required because the time for trial expired before a trial was held. In some cases, this happened when the trial court failed to set a date for trial within the period before it elapsed. State v. White, 94. Wn.2d. 498, 500, 617 P.2d 998 (1980); State v. Helms, 72 Wn. App. 273, 277, 864 P.2d 23 (1993). In other cases, the trial court erroneously granted a continuance on an invalid basis and the period elapsed without that continuance. State v. Denton, 23 Wn. App. 2d 437, 459-60, 516 P.3d 422 (2022); State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130, 136-37, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009); State v. Kokot, 42 Wn. App. 733, 737, 713 P.2d 1121 (1986). In short, "strict compliance" means dismissal is required where the time for trial period elapses without holding a trial, consistent with CrR 3.3(h).<sup>3</sup> Therefore, these cases do not conflict with the decision of the Court of Appeals.

Waits argues that caselaw establishes that "noncompliance with CrR 3.3(f)(2) results in an invalid excluded period." Petition at 15 (citing *Denton*, *Kenyon*, and *State v. Mack*, 89 Wn.2d 788, 794, 576 P.2d 44 (1978)). But, as Waits acknowledges, his cases all deal with a trial court granting a continuance for an invalid *reason*, not for the failure to set a specific date for trial. *Id.* He argues that these cases "apply by analogy," *id.*, but they are distinguishable.

CrR 3.3(f)(2) provides: "On the motion of the court or a party, the court may continue the trial date to a specified date when such continuance is required in the administration of justice[.]" Thus, a valid reason for a continuance is an express condition of CrR 3.3(f)(2)'s plain language; an improper reason

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CrR 3.3's text has changed dramatically over the years, but subsection (h)'s requirement of dismissal with prejudice for failure to hold a trial within the allowable period has always existed in some form. *See, e.g., Walker*, 199 Wn.2d 796, 805 n.8.

invalidates the entire basis for granting the continuance. *Id*. Waits does not dispute that the trial court properly granted his own counsel's request for an extension due to her unavailability. Nor is there any doubt in the record about the period of requested delay. CrR 3.3(e)(3) provides that "[d]elay granted by the court pursuant to section (f)" is excluded. Because there is no dispute about the validity or length of that delay, the continuance resulted in a valid excluded period.

Finally, Waits argues that the Court of Appeals ignored this Court's language in *State v. Walker*, 199 Wn.2d 796, 804, 513 P.3d 111 (2022). He is mistaken. This Court wrote that "[i]t is important to note that our holding is limited to the factual circumstances of this case. Other situations may call for different analyses." *Id.* As an example, this Court added "if the court fails to set a trial date at all, and the time-for-trial period expires, a defendant may still obtain dismissal under the rules." *Id.* Here, although the trial court did not set a trial date, the allowable

period never expired. Therefore, dismissal is inappropriate.

CrR 3.3(h). This Court should deny review.

# B. The Alleged Prosecutorial Misconduct Does Not Pose a Significant Question of Constitutional Law Under RAP 13.4(b)(3)

The Court of Appeals addressed Waits's unpreserved claims of prosecutorial misconduct and found that they did not warrant reversal under the "flagrant and ill-intentioned standard." Opinion at 15-26. The court found that Waits failed to carry his burden to show that the prosecutor's remarks were both improper and prejudicial. Opinion at 14 (citing State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1238 (1997)). Under this factually intensive standard, the comment is evaluated in the context of the entire trial, the arguments presented, the issues in the case, the evidence. and the court's instructions the jury. to State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Even if the comment is improper, Waits bears the burden to show that it caused "enduring and resulting prejudice" that could not have been "neutralized by an admonishment to the jury." *Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d at 719.

Here, Waits concedes that none of alleged errors in isolation is reversible and argues only that they warrant a new trial when considered cumulatively. Petition at 24. He asks this Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) as involving "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States." *Id.* But his claim renders an already context-driven analysis even more specific to these circumstances; he must show "the combined effect of the accumulation of errors" requires a new trial. *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 P.2d 668 (1984).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that several of the comments were neither improper nor prejudicial. Opinion at 21, 24, 25. Even where the prosecutor overstepped, the court held that the remarks fell short of the flagrant and ill-intentioned standard because they were missteps taken to address difficult aspects of the case, such as Eckerle's delayed reaction to Waits's

transgressions. *See* Opinion at 22, 25-26. The Court of Appeals reached the correct conclusion, and this fact-bound question about cumulative, unpreserved error does not pose a significant question of constitutional law warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

# C. The "No Contact with Minors" Condition Does Not Violate Waits's Constitutional Right to Parent

During sentencing, the trial court found that Waits had a "fatherly" relationship with S. and "took advantage of that role." NRP 513. The court therefore imposed a community custody condition that Waits have no contact with minors without the permission of a community corrections officer. NRP 523-24. Although the condition restricts Waits from having contact with his own minor children without permission, the Court of Appeals found that it was narrowly tailored to protect the community while respecting his right to parent. Opinion at 31-32.

Waits contends that the condition is practically a "total bar on contact for his entire indeterminate prison term" because he will not have a community custody officer to give

him permission until he is released. Therefore, he argues, the trial court needs to justify the duration of this "total bar." Petition at 26. Although Waits's term of community custody will not begin until he is released from confinement, the condition applies while he is in prison. RCW 9.94A.070(2). Either way, he is in custody of the Department of Corrections for both his term of imprisonment and community custody. *See* RCW 9.94A.704.

But Waits's claim that the condition is a "total bar" is not established on this record. The plain language of the condition does not impose a total bar and instead bestows discretion on the Department. CP 146. And Waits's claim that the condition is functionally a total bar is unsupported; there is no evidence that Waits has requested permission to contact his children from the Department and has been refused because he lacks a community custody officer. Where an issue requires development of facts outside the record, "a personal restraint petition is the appropriate vehicle for bringing those matters before the court." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 338, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995);

His challenge turns on how the condition is applied. Thus, it is "a question of appropriate enforcement and a question for another day." *See State v. Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d 740, 747, 487 P.3d 893 (2021). The Court of Appeals properly held that the condition was narrowly tailored as written and this Court's review is unwarranted.

### D. Waits's Fourth Amendment Claim is Unsupported by the Record

Waits seeks review of one claim raised in his Statement of Additional Grounds. He argues that "law enforcement entered the curtilage of his home without a warrant and without exigent circumstances, but with the intent to arrest him." Petition at 27 (emphasis added). This claim of pre-existing intent is critical because it is undisputed that officers ordinarily have the authority to knock on a person's door and ask them questions without any suspicion whatsoever. See, e.g., Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 469, 131 S. Ct. 1849, 179 L. Ed 2d 864 (2011).

The Court of Appeals properly held that the evidence at trial does not support Waits's assertion. Police responded to

Eckerle's 9-1-1 call and, once on scene, separately interviewed both Eckerle and Waits. NRP 182-83. As the Court of Appeals noted, the police interviewed Waits for 30 minutes before they decided to arrest him. Opinion at 39. These facts are inconsistent with a pre-existing intent to arrest Waits.

The Court of Appeals distinguished these facts from *United States v. Lundin*, 817 F.3d 1151, 1160 (9th Cir. 2016), where the officers on scene responded to a dispatch request to *arrest* the occupant of a home at 4:00 a.m. without a warrant. Unlike the officers in *Lundin*, the officers here were dispatched to conduct an investigation. This Court should decline to review this issue, because, as with the other issues he raises, Waits has not shown any ground on which this issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Waits's petition for review.